Editorial:   



SILENCE OF TORTURE VICTIMS
· Shameema Begam (name changed) was married in 2005, to a handsome bank employee. The bridegroom could not perform sexually even after taking medicines. After medical test of his semen, the reports were found negative. Shortly, the marriage ended up in a divorce. There were silent protests from the bride’s family, as they had spent Rs. 3 lacs for the marriage and they feel cheated. Later, it was confirmed that the bridegroom’s brother was a militant. The bridegroom was arrested because of being relative of a militant. He was severely tortured. Electric shocks were administered to his genitals, which made him sexually incapacitated for the whole life. 
· The Border Security Forces (BSF) picked up a 17-year-old student Mohammad in April 1995 from downtown area of Srinagar. He was taken to an interrogation center, Baramulla where he was detained for 3 months. His legs were tied and was beaten to pulp with clubs and bamboo sticks. Also rollers were trampled over his thighs. He was given electric shocks to his testicles for 16 consecutive days. The shocks lasted for 3 to 4 minutes, until he got convulsions and fainted. As a result of torture he suffered episodes of manic-depression and needed psychiatric treatment. He lost 50 percent of mobility of his right hand, passing blood through his urine and finally he turned impotent.

· Ghulam Jeelani, 32, an Imam (priest) from Mewar Khandi, Kupwara was arrested by the Intelligence Bureau (IB) on February 26 2001. He was accused of possessing arms “which was untrue”. Irked, the troops after severely torturing Jeelani threw him from a 300 feet hill. Luckily, he survived despite receiving severe head injuries. Owing to torture, he turned impotent and physically fragile. Jeelani has a wife with 4 minor kids.

Since 1989, different modes of tortures both conventional as well as unconventional have been used against the younger generation of valley after they were arrested by various counter insurgency agencies. The arrestees are subjected to torture in the army camps located in every nook and corner of the valley. Notwithstanding, even under the draconian Armed Forces Special (Powers) Act (AFSPA) army has no powers to detain arrestees or interrogate them. They are legally bound to hand over the arrestees to the local police for interrogation, which is seldom done. Almost every third Kashmiri including women and children have been subjected to physical/ mental torture. The physical tortures have long-term implications for the young people particularly when they have been rendered impotent or sexually abused. 

These sexually incapacitated victims have seldom complained or gone public about the torture that has devastated their lives. There are numerous incidents where these tortured victims after failing to get cured have committed suicides or become drug addicts or often turned violent at homes. According to rough estimates nearly 2000 youth must have been rendered impotent due to the various modes of torture. The victims have to live in a shame through out their lives. The unmarried victims of the torture have kept it a secret even from their close friends and relatives and the married ones are facing constant trauma as their marital relations have changed. In number of cases marriages have ended up in a divorce. The perpetrators have found it a most successful tool against the Kashmiri youth who are protecting, encouraging, to some extent abetting with them by their silence. Already very little attention has been paid towards the wide-scale and unprecedented torture the people of Kashmir have undergone for the last 16 years throughout its history by such a massive number of the army.  It is difficult rather impossible, to document such cases due to the expected non-cooperation of the victims. Moreover, it is also feared that it will have social implications about the hundreds and thousands of arrestees and could blow up into a mega issue. But if it is not made an issue in Kashmir, it will encourage the perpetrators to do it more effectively and universally.  Torture is already least highlighted issue in Kashmir even manifold than the enforced disappearances, extra judicial killings and custodial deaths. There is a growing need that the issue of torture be highlighted before the international community particularly the modes of torture which condemns the victims throughout their lives so that the international organizations should take note of this barbarous crime. A methodology is to be evolved to document such cases after persuading the victims, keeping confidentiality of the victims if they choose so and report this mode of torture, which is being deliberately inflicted on Kashmiris by a section of sadistic Indian army. The exposure only prevents and acts as deterrent and could also help for the long-term mission in identifying the perpetrators so that it shouldn’t be repeated again. 

AUGUST 15 OBSERVED AS A ‘BLACK DAY’ IN INDIAN ADMINISTERED KASHMIR
A billboard looms over the pedestrians and cars crossing the busy bypass near Radio Kashmir and the Tourist Information Center in Srinagar.  The blown-up photograph depicts a scowling female in military garb and a helmet stamped with the acronym CRPF (Central Reserve Police Force), brandishing a pistol that cuts through the foreground.  Her furrowed eyebrows and frowning lips evoke the image of a mother reprimanding a young, disobedient child.  The Hindi script below the bust announces “THIS IS AN INDIAN NATION”.  “She is making sure that no one forgets it,” a local viewer acidly remarks.  The billboard, located elsewhere by the Dal Lake Boulevard as well, is reminiscent of the Orwellian placards of a magnified Big Brother staring down civilians with a ubiquitous gaze, but instead re-appropriates the national icon of “Mother India” in a rather perverse way.  The CRPF slogan, etched like a Valentine on bunkers throughout the city, reaffirms their omnipresence:  “WITH YOU, FOR YOU, EVER AND ALWAYS”.  

As India’s “Independence Day”, August 15, drew to a close on Tuesday, residents of the capital of Kashmir once again remain consigned to their homes till evening. Among many Kashmiris, “Independence Day” has alternate implications than it suggests. “For the sixteenth consecutive year, Srinagar has virtually been turned into a fortress on the eve of independence day, with security men combing each and every part of the city,” noted The Hindu 
 “Conditions are bad”, neighbors anxiously mutter to one another as the fifteenth approached. The preceding days are marked by heightened tensions, an escalation in the military presence, intense police scrutiny and more extensive searches at roadside checkpoints. A long procession of army vehicles transporting a military convoy temporarily halted traffic once again last Saturday on the deserted Dalgate Boulevard, where markets were closed in observance of a hartal, or statewide strike. Dalgate, the boardwalk adjacent to the scenic banks of the lake where on a regular afternoon locals, tourists, shop keepers and vendors mingle, was the site of a bloody confrontation between a young man and three CRPF troopers on August 9 that generated widespread outrage and protests throughout Srinagar. 

 Police personnel alleged that twenty-three-year-old Ghulam Mohammad Sheikh withdrew a grenade at a security checkpoint, provoking three officers to open fire at close range.  Numerous individuals claiming to have witnessed the incident, which occurred in broad daylight, vehemently rejected the police narrative.  They contended that the young man began arguing with the troopers after a humiliating body search, when the officers pushed him towards the footpath and “fired a volley of bullets at him” (Greater Kashmir)
.  A spontaneous protest erupted, with “scores of women from the nearby Dalgate locality […] accusing the troops of ‘stage managing’ the youth’s killing.   According to a local newspaper Greater Kashmir, area residents claimed that the troopers had threatened to avenge the murder of a soldier and cop by militants on August 1.  Repeated complaints lodged regarding coercive security measures, police harassment and intimidation experienced since the attack on troopers were ignored
.  Despite contradictions in the three public statements made by the CRPF, amid the public outcry, the troopers responsible for the killing were awarded promotions, 1 lakh Rupees (the equivalent of about $2100), and praised by the Inspector General of Police for their “gallantry”.

In the days that followed, an array of civic, political, religious organizations and labor unions strongly condemned the killing, despite subsequent CRPF accusations that the young man had affiliations with the terrorist organization Al-Mansoorian and (after a statement released was refuted by outfit) Lashkar-e-Toiba.  

On the morning of August 9, a routine condolence ceremony was held at Amar Singh College, where Ghulam Mohammad had been enrolled as a second year student.  Following the assembly, forty participants began to stage a non-violent demonstration.  As one of the students, Abdul Hamid put it, “We felt that what happened [to Ghulam Mohammad] could have happened to anyone of us.  Tomorrow the police could shoot us and call us terrorists.” Amar Singh Principal, Dr. Mian Shamshada, and her staff recounted that by the time they arrived to the campus at approximately nine-thirty am, the police had already placed one officer on the grounds and another near the entrance without seeking the permission of administrators. The police later cordoned off the entire college, locking the central gate and refusing to permit students to exit.  Demonstrators reacted by rattling the gate and chanting slogans. They began pelting stones at the police. The officers responded in kind.  Dr. Shamshada recalled a rock abruptly striking a student’s head and shortly thereafter dozens of tear-gas canisters being lodged, followed by a round of shots fired in the air by police.  Staff members estimate that at least fifty officers armed with rifles and sticks then advanced upon the students.  Abdul Hamid recollects that at the time it seemed like hundreds.

The troopers began brutally assaulting the demonstrators and staff members who were attempting to calm and pacify the students.  Officers chased one individual into a classroom of about twenty students, guarded the doors and proceeded to assail all of them with blows.  One student jumped out of a second story window.  Police barged into the adjacent ladies staff room, launching verbal abuse and threats at the lecturers.  Staff members related how the Station House Officer mocked Dr. Shamshada, sneering, “You don’t know how to manage your students”.  Students and staff sustained injuries to the head, shoulders, fractured legs and arms.  One student vomited blood.  Several lay unconscious.  The five most critically injured were accompanied by professors to the local hospital and then transferred to the SK Institute of Medical Sciences, Soura.  Amar Singh staff member, Yaseen Ahmed, remarked that such an encroachment of police upon an educational institution was “totally unprecedented”.   

At the latest Assembly of state legislators, Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad reasserted that the human rights situation in Kashmir is improving.  During his visit to the region in late May, Indian Prime Minister Dr. Manmohan Singh vowed that his administration would take a “zero tolerance” policy towards human rights violations committed by military and police.  He reaffirmed that a “working group on good governance” would be formed to adequately address such matters, as previous bodies have proved to be innocuous.  Deputy Chief Minister Muzaffar Hussain Beig clarified the Prime Minister’s statements for the Kashmir State Assembly on August 2, frankly admitting “All six lakhs [approximately 600,000] troops in JK (the state of Jammu and Kashmir) aren’t angels” and “every soldier cannot be stopped from committing violations”.  The Minister posed the question, “Don’t mistakes happen in God’s world?  It’s a law of nature that mistakes happen”. He stated that there have been only 27 custodial deaths and 14 “enforced disappearances” under his party’s administration. Beig reassured citizens that the government was taking action against troops found involved in wrongdoing, and illuminated why punishments dealt against errant officers failed to come the attention of the public.  “[…] we are not giving it publicity as it will have demoralizing effects on troops”.                         

Beig was given a firm censure the following day by the Chief Minister Azad. The Minister admonished Beig for overstating the troop count and presented a sum less than half the previous number, warning, “These very figures are quoted by Pakistan and the International agencies that too against us”. The state government’s contempt for such “international agencies” is evident in its refusal to grant U.N and human rights observer’s access to the region.  

The controversial issue of human rights repeatedly surfaced in the State Assembly. A heated dispute arose between legislators over who was responsible for instituting the draconian laws protecting military and police personnel stationed in Indian administered Kashmir from any legal accountability whatsoever—yet somehow the matter of repealing the laws failed to be explored.  These “special powers” include the ability to detain individuals, “without charge or trial on the purported presumption that they may in the future commit acts harmful to the state”. The Armed Forces Special ( Powers) Act states that any member of the military may “if he is of opinion that it is necessary so to do for the maintenance of Public order […] fire upon or otherwise use force, even to the causing of death, against any person in contravention of any law or order”.  It also allows the arrest, without warrant, of individuals on the mere suspicion of later violations. A 1993 U. S. Congressional evaluation of the Terrorist and Disruptive Activities Act (TADA) declared that the law “reverses the presumption of innocence, by “placing the burden on accused to prove that he or she is not guilty”
. The law further permits confessions extracted under duress to be submitted as evidence, in effect sanctioning the use of torture.  The Official Secrets Act (OSA) grants the government the jurisdiction to restrict the publication of what it broadly deems as “prejudicial to the safety or interests of the State”. The Public Safety Act, the most frequently invoked and egregiously abused law, allows individuals to be imprisoned for up to two years without trial and can be infinitely renewed. In sum, the statutes enumerated, among others, authorize the state and military apparatus to act with impunity.

August 15 has been observed as a “Black Day” throughout the valley.  Until (at the very least) the laws granting military and police personnel deployed in the region freedom from adhering to the basic principles of decency and justice are revoked, and viable legal avenues through which victims of abuse can seek recourse are opened, it will likely remain so. 

STUDENT KILLED, DUBBED AS MILITANT

On August 9, a student was killed by the troops of CRPF (Central Reserve Police Force) at the main tourist hub, Dalgate, Srinagar. The troops alleged that the boy was trying to throw a grenade and by the timely action, some soldiers saw him and shot him dead. The killing prompted a massive protest demonstration against the troops and the state government throughout the valley. The eyewitnesses claimed that the boy was shot dead without any provocation and then the CRPF troops put a grenade in his bag just to prove him as a militant.  

The deceased was identified as Ghulam Mohammad Sheikh, 22, son of Muhammad Sultan Sheikh resident of Ashtingoo, Bandipora, a village in the north district Baramulla, 68 kilometers away from Srinagar city. On August 9, it was the time when the shopkeepers and the residents of the Dalgate area were demonstrating against the presence of large number of troops in the area and the incessant harassment to the inhabitants, since some few days back when a CRPF personnel and a police cop were killed by militants in the area. The residents said that troops had planned to avenge the killing of their colleagues and wanted to remain in the area. And it was because of that reason; an innocent boy was killed by the soldiers.  

“We were protesting against the arrests and harassment inflicted upon the residents, meanwhile the CRPF troopers were searching the passing vehicles. A bus was stopped in which the Ghulam Mohammad was traveling; all the passengers in the bus were taken down and were searched and harassed. Ghulam Mohammad had a brawl with the CRPF troopers over the humiliating frisking. In return, some CRPF men caught him, dragged him towards the footpath and shot him from a close range. There were hundreds of people who witnessed the scene with their eyes”, said the residents of Dalgate.

“When hit by bullets, Ghulam Mohammad fell on the footpath and in the meanwhile some troopers rushed towards him and picked up his bag and later claimed that the boy attempted to hurl a grenade on them that exploded in his hand and another grenade was recovered from his bag. We witnessed the whole incident and no grenade was thrown by Ghulam Mohammad”, said eyewitnesses, asking for anonymity.

The reporter of The Informative Missive visited Ashtingoo village and talked to the family inmates of the deceased.

Manzoor Ahmad Sheikh, elder brother of Ghulam Mohammad told while talking to The Informative Missive, “Ghulam Mohammad was studying in Srinagar city. Last week he came to home to spend his vacations. In the morning of August 9, he left back to Srinagar and also took some clothes with him. In the afternoon, someone called me on the phone and informed about the tragedy. I along with my cousins rushed to the Police Control Room (PCR) Srinagar. We received the dead body and brought that to our village”.


“He was pursuing his Bachelors degree in Commerce at Amar Singh College, Srinagar.   I don’t know why the brutal troops killed him. He did not indulge in any militant activity. We believe that he was killed for his religious orientation. He was spending most of his time, either with studies or with the religious activities. Due to his religious inclination, he had became the President of Muslim Students Union, an association of the students that works for the preaching and propagation of the Islam among the young students. This might be the reason for his killing, because in the present era Islam loving persons are being targeted everywhere in the world and his killing proves that. The claims of the troops that my brother was a militant are totally baseless and that he tried to throw a grenade over the troops that exploded in his hand is baseless and false, because if the grenade had exploded in his hand, there would have been wounds or even bruises on his hand, but there was no such mark on his hand. The CRPF troopers advertently put grenades in his bag so as to label him as a militant”, asserted Manzoor.

While recollecting the past of his elder brother, Ali Mohammad, second brother of Ghulam Mohammad said, “My brother got schooling from Al-Mustafa Model High School Ashtingoo, where Islamic as well as English education was provided to the students. Then he joined Shukur-u-din Memorial Public School, Babashukurdin Watlab and studied there for two years. After then he got admission in 11th standard with commerce subject in the Boys Higher Secondary School, Bandipora and in his 12th standard examination, he failed in the Accountancy subject. He then started to study as a private candidate and simultaneously started to run a provision store at Ashtingoo. After passing his subject he got admission in Amar Singh College, Srinagar, but again in the annual examination of first year, he failed in the Accountancy subject and this way he studied as a private candidate for two years. During these two years, besides running the shop, he used to lead the five prayers in the mosque and worked as a teacher in the Al-Mustafa School at Ashtingoo, where from he had got his primary schooling. He was also teaching Holy Quran to many young people in the village during these years. He was a philanthropist and was always helping poor and the orphans. After passing his first year subject, he continued his study and was pursuing the second year in the college. He was putting up at Hyderpora, Srinagar as a tenant and concentrated on his studies only. He was never arrested and detained throughout his life”. 

Mohammad Sultan Sheikh, father of the deceased said, “Truth ultimately prevails. The troops alleged that my son was a militant of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) militant outfit, but the spokesperson of LeT through a press statement refuted my son’s involvement in the outfit. Then the troops further alleged that he was associated with Al- Mansurain militant organization and again it was proved baseless as the claim of the troops was refuted by their spokesperson. If my son was a militant, then, why didn’t any militant organization admit his involvement?”

He further adds, “The brutal CRPF troopers were rewarded with money and promotions for the killing of my innocent son. Many high ups of the government like our concerned MLA Usma Majeed, MLC Nizamudin Bhat and our former MLA Gulnaz visited our village on the funeral day. Tehsildar Bandipora strongly condemned the killing. All the government high ups assured us of the justice and told that they would ask for the probe into the matter, but that proved to be a false promise and instead of punishing the culprits they were rewarded for the brutal act”. 

“After few days of the incident, some of the residents of our village who demonstrated against the killing of Ghulam Mohammad were arrested by the 5-Rashtriya Rifles army. Among the arrested where, Mohammad lateef Sheikh Son of late Ghulam Ahmad sheikh, Shahzad Ahmad sofi son of late Mohammad Dilawar Sofi, Firdous Ahmad Lone son of Late Ghulam Mohammad, Molvi Dilawar Sheikh son of Late Mohammad Sultan, Imam of the local mosque and Abdul Majeed Lone son of Late Amirudin. All these persons were arrested by the troops of army camped at Paribal Alosa. But finally they were released after being warned by the army not to hold any protest demonstration in the area. They were also cautioned that the villagers would face dire consequences if they hold any protest in the area”, uttered Ali Mohammad, second brother of slain Ghulam Mohammad.   

Contradictory statements:-
The official police handout said that a person was killed in a firing incident at Dalgate and investigations have been launched in the case. However, the Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir range, S.M. Sahai said that the killed person was a militant.
“The person killed is a militant and he was shot at while he was trying to throw a grenade. I have not gone through the press note, but let me tell you that my statement is more authentic than the police bulletin. This is a lapse on our front and I would see that the mistake is not repeated in future”, said the IGP Kashmir.

On the other side, the IG CRPF A.P. Maheshwari said that the CRPF jawan spotted the youth and as they noticed that he had taken the pin out of the grenade and was about to detonate it they fired on him, killing him on the spot. He added that the youth had removed the pin of the grenade and that the grenade exploded, but somehow he was not able to make it out clear that where did the grenade land.

“In the afternoon a head constable and two constables of 172 BN of the force noticed that a youth was trying to detonate a grenade at Dalgate. When they saw that the youth was about to explode the grenade as he had already removed the pin, the jawans challenged him and fired upon him killing him on the spot”, said Maheshwari.

However, one of the CRPF jawans who was involved in the killing of the youth said that they searched the youth and while carrying out the whole process their hands touched a grenade being carried by the youth. He contradicted the statement of his IGP, as he did not say that the youth was spotted and then fired upon as stated by A P Maheshwari.

“As we 
were carrying out the search of the youth our hands lay on a grenade and we challenged him as he was trying to remove the pin of the grenade. As he was doing the same we spotted it and fired on him, killing him on the spot”, said the jawan. When asked where the youth had kept the hidden grenade, the CRPF jawan after fumbling many times while pointing towards his waist said that the same had been kept there by the youth.

A day after paramilitary CRPF troops issued contradictory statements over the killing of a youth at Dalgate, police on Thursday claimed that the deceased was “an important member of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) militant outfit.” 

The police station RamMunshi Bagh lodged an FIR concerning the incident, stating that the deceased boy was a militant of LeT outfit and was trying to throw a grenade on the CRPF troops. 

“Since the day of the killing, police investigated the matter and some startling revelations have been unearthed. It has now been revealed that the deceased was an important member of the terrorist outfit LeT with code name Fayaz Jugnoo and Tawheed-ul-Haq,” a police spokesman said in a statement. 

 Hence, varied statements were given in connection with the killing of Ghulam Mohammad and the statements of IG CRPF and the CRPF personnel who killed Ghulam Mohammad were contradictory. The CRPF troopers who were involved in the killing were awarded rupees One Lakh (one hundred thousand) each. 

YOUTH TORTURED TO DEATH IN CUSTODY

On August 1 a dead body with critical wounds was recovered from Sadunara village.  The body was laid on the bank of the stream flowing between Ajas and Sadunara. The deceased was discovered to be Fayaz Ahmad Rather, 22, son of Ghulam Qadir resident of Sadunara, Sumbal (45 kilometers away in north of Srinagar in the Baramulla district). The boy had been missing for two days before his dead body was recovered. The killing enraged the people of the area and a strong protest demonstration was held against the barbaric killing. The protesters voiced anti-army, anti-India pro-freedom slogans, cursing the rule of state government. The villagers alleged that the boy was picked up from the outskirts of the village by 13RR troops camped at Ajas and killed in custody after being subjected to brutal torture. The killing is the first of its kind in the area since the inception of the conflict in Kashmir. 

Shortly after the incident, the reporter of The Informative Missive visited the village and spoke to the victim’s family and the inhabitants of the village.
Ghulam Qadir Rather, the victim’s hapless 67-year-old father, related the following narrative: “On the ill-fated day of 30th July at around 7:45am we (all the members of the family) were taking tea.  After having the breakfast tea my son Fayaz Ahmad told me that he was going to have a look over the lawn, which is situated in the outskirts of the village. In reply, I told him that there had been a lot of rainfall since the previous evening and the whole village was filled with sludge, so it was not wise to go to the lawn.  He nevertheless left to the lawn and did not return.  At around 12 noon, all of our family members except Fayaz gathered for lunch. Every day he used to have lunch at 11:30 am and usually felt hungrier than others. We became anxious, as he had not come home.  We stepped out and searched for Fayaz for hours.  Visiting all of our relative’s houses and other places in the vicinity of village, we found nothing. 

Then we rushed to the Police post Ajas and filed a missing report. We also requested police to search in the nearby army camps. We visited various military camps ourselves including those in Ajas, Saderkote, and Saderkote Payeen. Police phoned all the nearby camps and even accompanied us to the Saderkote military post, where they made inquiries to the officers about any recent arrests. The army denied any detention and demanded a photograph of Fayaz Ahmad so that his whereabouts could be ascertained. The inmates of every army camp told us that they have not arrested any person. We searched every nook and corner but no one divulged the whereabouts of our son. Police also could not help us in this context.  They did not locate our son; they only filed a report and put it in a pile of documents.  For two days (Sunday, July 30 and Monday July 31) our family, all of our neighbors and other villagers did their best to ascertain the whereabouts of my beloved son but fate could not bring him back. We also met Kuka Parray’s (slain renegade) son Imtiyaz Ahmad Parray.  He called all the army camps but none accepted responsibility for the arrest”, wailed the father in tears.

Some villagers claimed that on the morning of June 30th, the 13-RR army party was moving along the village in return from a crackdown operation. The army men moved towards the very lawn where Fayaz was believed to have been. The troops, apparently sensing Fayaz was a militant, seized him and took him away.  They may have asked Fayaz his identity, but he could not have replied as he neither understands nor speaks any language other than Kashmiri.  Presumably for this reason, the officers perhaps considered him a militant and later tortured him to death”, said inhabitants of the village. They also asserted that some villagers witnessed the arrest of Fayaz Ahmad.  

The residents further added: “On the evening of July 31st, the army cordoned off the whole village and ordered everyone to remain inside their houses, warning that otherwise they would be shot dead. The army was moving hither and thither till late at night and the following morning we found the tortured dead body of Fayaz Ahmad at the bank of stream. The whole situation suggests that it was the army who killed the young boy barbarically”, asserted the villager expressing their resentment over the murder of the innocent boy.           

Abdul Rehman Rather, uncle of the deceased, also related “Our two days strong efforts in search of our loved one ended in shrieks when we heard that a dead body was situated on the rim of the Zajjer Nalla, Hajan. All of our family members, women and children, rushed towards the bank of the stream. As soon as I reached the spot I found the brutally wounded dead body of my nephew up to knees in the water. When we picked up the corpse we found severe torture marks all over and rope tied around the body. His head was broken and swollen as it was struck by some heavy tool, his chest swelled out, scorched by a hot iron.  Iron sticks had been inserted in both of his eye sockets, as if both of his eyes were chopped off. He had been tortured ruthlessly for no reason”, said Abdul Rehman.

Abdul Rehman added, “As soon as we raised the dead body police also reached the scene and seized the dead from us, rushing it to the Sub District Hospital Sumbal for the post mortem.  The police lodged an FIR at the Ajas station, stating that the boy was tortured to death by some unidentified persons. After the post mortem, a crowd of the people took the dead body, placed it on the road and held a protest demonstration. The protesters were demanding for justice and stern action against the culprits. In order to disperse the protesters police lobbed tear gas shells and also volleyed bullets in the air. Despite the strong protests, no Government higher-ups visited the scene. Finally, protesters carried the dead body to a graveyard and some Hurriyat leaders performed the funeral rites.  All the nearby villages observed a complete shutdown for four days in continued protest against such barbaric killing, but all in vain. No action was taken by the government or police”, grieved Abdul Rehman.

Saida, mother of the slain Fayaz despaired, “Why my son was killed when he was innocent? He was neither charged with any crime nor associated with any criminal activity in his life. He was very innocent and was considered the most gentle and temperate boy in the whole village. He was spending all of his time in farming, domestic work and sometimes with his work of carpet weaving. He was so shy that he never moved outside his village. If anybody could say that once in his life he was involved in any crooked activity, I would claim that his killing is justified, but nobody can do so.  As a teenager he used to work as a herdsman and was feeding the cattle of all the nearby villages. From that very time, every young and old person knew him very well. The brutal troops of the army just killed him for being an innocent and gentle person”, said mother Saida with worn eyes. 

She further groused, “The former deputy speaker and MLA, Mohammad Akbar Lone and other government higher-ups visited our house on the fourth day of the killing. They just came to add salt to our wounds, as they said ‘The boy has died and now the family has to be helped’. They should have consoled us by assuring us that there would be some justice and a probe into the matter, but instead their words were unfeeling”, complained the grief-stricken mother, Saida.

Since the killing of Fayaz Ahmad the family is agonized. They were already poverty stricken.  Now this unbearable loss has made the family more miserable. Since the day of the incident, the villagers have also remained distressed.  They do not leave their homes in early morning or late evening. The killing of Fayaz always haunts them and they remain apprehensive that such an incident might occur again.   
TRAGIC FAMILIES
On August 23 2003, a person was shot dead by some unidentified gunmen at Gankhan, Zainakadal, Srinagar. The deceased was identified as Shabir Ahmad Zargar resident of Gankhan, Zainakadal. 

Just as Shabir Ahmad left his house masked gunmen appeared on the road outside his residence. On seeing Shabir, the gunmen indiscriminately opened fire resulting in his death on the spot. People in society witnessed the incident but nobody dared to avert the killing or made an attempt to catch the killers. Shabir was alone at his house, as his entire family had gone to attend the marriage ceremony of one of their relatives. 

Acknowledging his involvement during the early 90s with the ongoing militancy, Shabir’s wife told The Informative Missive, “Yes, in early 1990, Shabir was linked with the then militant organization, Jammu and Kashmir Liberation Front (JKLF). But he never crossed over to other side of Kashmir for arms training nor used arms.  Recognizing his huge family responsibilities, he disassociated himself from the organization in 1992 and was driving an auto rickshaw to earn livelihood”. 

She further related, “One day his auto rickshaw was stolen. But he did not lose hope and started a new venture of Shawl designing. He worked day in and day out to recover the loss due to the rickshaw theft. In 1994, he married with me and we were living a happy and intact life. We gave birth to two daughters who are presently studying, elder Zafira, 10, 3rd standard student and younger Mehreen, 7, a kindergarten student. Our hopes began to shatter on the day when my husband was arrested by the military in 1998, but on that occasion he was released after a few days, following some questioning.  Since day of his release, he has never been involved in any devious activity. He had completely shunned the path of the militancy.  However, on Aug 23, the most calamitous day of our life that robbed all our hopes, the merciless and callous gunmen killed my husband without any provocation”, narrated Sakina.

Sakina, “I was already very much wounded as I lost two of my five brothers, and now I have lost my husband. My two brothers were killed by the cruel Indian troops. First my brother, Mukhtar Ahmad, 16, son of Mohd Sidiq Sharoo, a dyer by profession was killed in the residential area kalashpora in the year 1991.  On that morning a militant killed BSF personnel and snatched his rifle. My brother left to purchase bread.  In the meantime the troops were chasing the militant.  When they could not catch him they went berserk, fired indiscriminately on my brother and caused his death on the spot. My other brother, Manzoor Ahmad, who was only 12 years old, went missing one day and we finally recovered his dead body from Bagwanpora Habakadal on 26 August, 1995.  He was working as an artisan of fur and leather goods. Both of my brothers were innocent.  Both of them were killed, that we don’t know why? When I had not recovered from those tragedies, another blow smashed my life”, mourned Sakina.     

“Shabir Ahmad was the lone bread winner of the family. Now there is no one to support me and my young daughters.  My in-laws deprived my family of my husband’s property after his death and now we are residing in a migrant pandit’s house.  I am not able to pay the rent for the accommodation. I engaged myself in embroidery work as an artisan. I earn a meager 300 rupees from which I hardly fulfil our necessities”, said Sakina.

She exclaimed, “Who will contribute for the education of my daughters? Who will help them in the future? Every day life is getting more and more humiliating for us. My daughters are very much agonized, yet they never disclose their anguish because they think that if they express it they would create more pain for their mama and our family.

The police lodged an FIR in this regard vide number, 76/03 u/s 302 RPC and 7/25 Arms act. The officers then began to investigate into the killing.  Yet due to the inaction of the police, the case was finally closed untraced on 30th July 2004.  Police could not ascertain any clue regarding the murder. I then applied for ex-gratia relief, so that I could meet my demands and pay for the schooling of my daughters.  My sufferings were further enhanced when government officials told me that I could not receive any relief, as my husband had been associated with the militancy in the early nineties, despite the recommendation of the State Human Rights Commission for ex-gratia relief, the government rejected my appeal”, told Sakina.  

The family of Shabir Ahmad Zargar is living in incessant distress and desperation.  They are fed up by the justice system. The mother and daughters are grief stricken and all their hopes seem to have been dashed.  Sakina’s two daughters wear forlorn expressions on their faces.   
THREE MEMBERS OF A FAMILY KILLED BY UNIDENTIFIED GUNMEN IN TEN YEARS

On August 20, a person was killed by unidentified gunmen outside his house at Waripora Pattan, 30 kilometers away from Srinagar in the north district Baramulla. The deceased was identified as Abdul Rashid Mir, son of late Abdul Gaffar, resident of Serwaripora, Pattan.  The victim was a 45-year-ol       d employee of the PHE (Public Health Engineering) department.     


Before Abdul Rashid’s killing, the family was already very much aggrieved as they had lost two elders of the family in the same manner.  First in 1994, the family lost elder Mohammad Ramzan Mir (55).  In 2002 they lost Ghulam Mohammad Mir (50).  Now they have lost Abdul Rashid Mir. Four elders supervised the family and now there is none to preside and guide it.  The fourth brother, Nazir Ahmad Mir, took part in the 2002 Assembly Elections as an independent candidate but could not secure any seat.  He continues to reside under security in the government quarters at Dalgate, Srinagar due to his former political associations.

Rouf Ahmad Mir, elder son of the deceased Abdul Rashid Mir said while talking to The Informative Missive, “I will never forget the scene and calamity of that night. On the fateful evening, we were having dinner and my father quickly finished his food. It was around 9:15 pm when he went out to feed the cattle. After giving grass to the cattle in the cowshed, he moved back towards the house. As soon as he reached the porch, masked gunmen, who were hiding in our courtyard, fired indiscriminately at him. Upon hearing a barrage of shots we rushed outside and found our father in the pool of blood. It was quite dark and there was no power supply in the village.  Nobody could see the perpetrators. Around thirty bullets were fired.  My father received one bullet in the arm and another on the loin.  Other bullets had hit the walls, door and ladder of the house. My father was severely wounded.  We carried him into our cousin’s car and rushed him to the Pattan Hospital, where he was given first aid and then referred to the SMHS hospital Srinagar.  While driving towards Srinagar my father recurrently cried, “Please hurry and save me”.  On reaching the hospital he was taken into the operation theatre. As soon as the hospital authorities demanded blood, my father breathed his last”.

 He added, “One question persistently haunts us.  Why our father was killed when he was never associated with any unlawful actions.  His activities were confined to his office and his house as he was posted in the PHE (Public Health Engineering) Department in Pattan. We could not understand the reason for his killing.  It might have been on account of my uncle Nazir Ahmad Mir’s participation in the 2002 assembly elections and recently in the bye-elections of 2006 as an independent candidate.  During both times, my father supported my uncle with the election campaign and was propagating his brother’s manifesto. He accompanied the election rally and convened many gatherings of the constituency. Those activities might have incited the resentment of some persons who murdered my father callously”.
Bashir Ahmad Mir, son of the deceased elder Mohammad Ramzan Mir said, “The first blow to our family was my father’s brutal killing.  In 1994, unidentified gunmen killed my father outside our house.  On January 27, 1994 some unidentified gunmen barged inside our house and shot at my father.  My father received a bullet on the backside of the head and lost his breath on the very spot. He was never associated with any unscrupulous activity. He had initially been working as an accountant in the Oberoi, Srinagar.  He then left the job and began looking after his farming plot. He was just killed for his affiliation with the then ruling party National Conference. He was a very philanthropic person and was always helping the needy, but the ruthless gunmen did not spare him”.
     “Our family has been dashed to the ground completely.  After my father’s killing, my uncle Ghulam Mohammad, 50, was also killed in the same manner.  One day in 2002, at around 2pm, my uncle went to Zangam village to meet one of his daughters who had been married there.  He was sitting inside his daughter’s house and conversing with the family.  Suddenly, masked gunmen barged in, coercively took my uncle out of the house and shot him.  He received around a hundred bullets and his entire body was pierced from head to toe.  His face was distorted completely by the bullets.  He was callously killed in cold blood, in broad daylight. His daughter’s in-laws witnessed the scene helplessly”, groused Bashir Ahmad.

“He did not indulge in any criminal activity.  He was engaged with his fruit business and attending to his fields.  My uncle had six daughters and two sons. The cruel gunmen did not consider the plight of the family.  They did not take pity on his daughters, but killed my uncle mercilessly”, Bashir Ahmed remarked.

Rouf Ahmad further said, “The third irrecoverable loss to our family was my father, Abdul Rashid’s death.  My father’s death entirely destroyed our family. Now we do not have any elder member in our three bereaved families who can guide us as before. Unidentified gunmen perpetrated all three killings.  We have not learned the reasons for any of the murders”.
 3 CIVILIANS SHOT DEAD 

AUGUST 12: Three civilians including a girl and her uncle were allegedly killed by the troops in twin villages of Kupwara, 95 kilometers away from Srinagar city. 

Residents of Chaiyal Pati village in Drugmulla sub-area of Kupwara district said soldiers of 33 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) murdered a 14-year-old girl Rubeena, daughter of Sanullah Tantray and her uncle Ghulam Mohi-ud-din Tantray, 37 in the wee hours when they were walking, along with 11 other villagers, towards forest to fetch firewood. Seven bullets had punctured frail body of the girl and nine had riddled her uncle. Police has filed a case of murder against the 33 RR Unit of army on the basis of statement given by the eyewitnesses. The National Human Rights Commission on August 31 took strong note of the incidents and sought an explanation from the government. 

 
Rubeena’s 18-year-old brother Waheed Tantray said, “Mother woke me up and asked me to fetch firewood. I picked up an axe and walked out of the house. I hadn’t even washed my face. Outside I saw many villagers readying for the trip to forest. We walked in a line and I was the last person in the line. I paused near a stream and washed face and hastened to join them. As we were near the forest I heard a burst of fire and ducked. As I looked up in the direction of fire, I could see soldiers. Everybody had taken cover and when I stood up after some time, I saw two bodies lying on the ground and walked towards them. One was Rubeena’s and the other of our uncle Mohiuddin”. 

 
Besides Rubeena and her uncle, there were nine other persons, three of them women, who were ambushed by the soldiers perched on the slopes of forest hill. The others survived. The survivors said they left the village for forest to fetch firewood at around 5.20 am and by the time they were near the forest, sun had risen. Army has made it mandatory for villagers to carry lanterns if they have to move out of their homes in the dark. If they don’t, they risk being shot at. The survivors said soldiers didn’t fire any warning shots. 
 
Another survivor and eyewitness who wished to remain anonymous for fear of reprisal said, “We routinely go to the forests and they have stopped us on many occasions in the past and after questioning allowed us to go inside the forest. Today they just fired at us.” 
Saja Begum, another eyewitness said, “When I heard gunshots I apprehended they were trying to scare away men and would rape us. Rubeena was walking past me and as she was hit and as she fell she just uttered ‘Mai kya gov (what happened to me).’ I ran for cover. 
There were seven bullet wounds on Rubeena’s body and nine bullets had riddled her uncle Mohi-ud-Din’s body”. 

 
 “The soldiers standing near the bodies were not allowing us to carry the bodies. But we resisted and carried them on shoulders,” said a villager, Ghulam Muhammad. The bodies were placed on Srinagar-Kupwara highway. 

Soon villagers of Bramri, Shathpora, and Hatmulla villages joined the protesters. The angry mourners dismantled a passenger shed converted by Army into a bunker to control flow of convoys. People threw the sandbags of the bunker into a stream nearby. 

The mourners were shouting anti-India and pro-freedom slogans.

 During protests Lt. Col. V. Santosh, the officiating commander of 33 RR traveling in a car stopped near the demonstrators. He said “stop this, why are you creating fuss”. At this, a police officer told him “you leave this place, we are controlling the situation”. 

The Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP), Kupwara Vijay Kumar said,” Police has filed a case a murder against 33 RR on the basis of statement given by villagers”. 

Defence spokesman Colonel Hemant Juneja said, “Troops had received leads about the movement of militants in Drugmulla area and they had laid an ambush. At 3.30 am two persons walked into the ambush though they were asked to stop by the troops. One of the dead persons was carrying an axe on his shoulders and soldiers mistook it for a weapon.” 

He said army court of inquiry would probe the shooting.
In another incident some distance away from Drugmulla, another civilian fell to the bullets of the troops. People demonstrated against the killing and accused the troops of 21 Rashtriya Rifles of killing Ghulam Rasool Bhat, 35, in Boban, Wadder-Zachaldar of Handwara sub-area in Kupwara district.    

The people said the civilian was shot dead deliberately by troops in his house.

Defence spokesman said Ghulam Rasool died in crossfire between militants and soldiers. 

The villagers told, “Army was accusing the dead civilian of being an accomplice of the militants who exchanged fire with troops and fled from the spot. Army says he was with the militants when he was shot at and he ran up to his home and hid himself in a second story room. That is a lie”. 

Defence spokesman told, “Ghulam Rasool was sleeping on the roof of his house when he was hit during crossfire”. 

DISAPPEARED FOUND DEAD

A dead body, alleged by police to be of a militant, was delivered for burial to the Imam (one who leads the prayers) of a mosque in Kajia village of Paddar Doda.  Kajia is a remote village in Doda district, approximately 90 kilometers from Doda Town.  The corpse had been in police custody.  The Imam refused to receive the body, protesting that without knowing the identity of the deceased he could not bury him.  The police claimed that the deceased was a Pakistani militant killed in an encounter with the Special Task Force (STF) and that he was identified as Abu Sufiyan of Pakistan by a diary in his possession recovered by officers. The commanding officer during the encounter was Superintendent of Police (SP) Virinder Sharma.  A police officer showed the diary to the Imam in order to assure him that the slain person was the said individual.  The diary contained some Pakistani phone numbers and the name of the holder on the cover page.  After perusing the diary, the Imam and other locals of the village received the body for burial.  However, before burying the deceased the villagers took several photographs of the corpse as proof of the slain person’s identity. 

Many families in search of their missing relatives subsequently traveled to the village in order to view the photographs of the slain person.  About a week after the burial, a victim family from the Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) from Blais Doda rushed to Kajia, praying that the deceased was not their son who disappeared from Doda after arrest by troops and since then his whereabouts were unknown.  When the family glanced at the photographs they burst into shrieks, identifying the slain as their disappeared son.  The parents of the deceased collapsed into lamentations and fell unconscious.  Relating the details of their experience to the reporter of The Informative Missive, they claim that their son was killed in custody.      

SURRENDERED MILITANT KILLED

August 21: A joint party of army 4-Rashtriya Rifles (RR) and Special Operations Group (SOG) of police murdered a youth at Parnu, Bhaderwah and later dubbed him as a top commander of Lashkar-e-Toiba, local residents alleged. 

 
The killing triggered a massive demonstration against army and state government, which swiftly ordered the probe into circumstances leading to death of youth.

Local residents said soldiers of 4 RR and SOG personnel led by in charge SOG Bhaderwah Ajit Singh gunned downed Anjeel Shah son of Muhammad Ashraf of Masri Parnu, 21 kilometers from Bhaderwah, while he was working in his maize fields. 

The residents said that at first they were puzzled by heavy gunfire they heard because no incident of firing has taken place in this village since 2002, when the accused SOG in charge Ajit Singh had reportedly killed a schoolboy of Puneja village triggering massive protest demonstration then. As the firing stopped, the villagers said, they walked toward the maize field but they were not allowed to move ahead by the soldiers and the policemen. The villagers persuaded the combat-ready soldiers and policemen to allow them to see the body lying in the maize field and when they tried to lift Anjeel’s body they were again blocked by the armed forces. The soldiers and policemen chased away the villagers who in turn pelted stones and shouted slogans against army and the government. 

After violent protests by the villagers the body was handed over to them. In the form of a procession, the villagers carried the body on a stretcher and placed it on Bhaderwah-Doda road. People from adjoining villages also joined the protesters and shouted slogans against troops and the local administration. Protesters were demanding arrest of Ajit Singh and other soldiers and policemen responsible for the killing. 

Sub-inspector Ajit Singh has been accused of killing a schoolboy Mushtaq Ahmad Baig son of Abdul Qasim Baig of Puneja, Bhaderwah in 2002. A case is still pending against him in court. He has been posted for second time in Bhaderwah as in charge of infamous SOG. 

The residents said he killed Anjeel Shah in the similar way he had killed the schoolboy. Eyewitnesses had testified against him in court. Keeping in view his past record, the local residents were against his second posting. 

Top police officers said Anjeel Shah was earlier a Hizb militant and had surrendered before army and police last year. However, police said, he had joined Lashkar-e-Toiba was working as their aide for quite some time as Over Ground Worker. 
District Development Commissioner Doda, Pawan Kotwal told that an inquiry has been ordered. 

MILITANTS KILL TWO ELDERS FOR SENDING SONS TO ARMY

POONCH, August 12: Militants have begun targeting civilians whose kin attend military recruitment rallies.  In one such incident, militants gunned down two elderly persons whose sons had sought recruitment by the army. The militants told family members of the victims that their kin were "required by us" and not the military.

 
Official sources stated that the two militants, one of them a local and another a foreign militant, came to the village Drogian in the Bafliaz area of Surankote tehsil at 9.30 pm last night and knocked on the door of 54 year old Bashir Khan, son of Mohd Deen. 

The militants inquired about Bashir Khan’s son, Arif Khan. The family members told the armed militants that Arif had gone to Surankote to meet his relatives. The ultras, however, kidnapped Bashir Khan and took him to the house of Shadi Khan, 60, son of Shahjahan Khan.

In the house of Shadi Khan, the militants demanded that family members produce Khan’s son Javed Khan before them. The family told the militants that he had gone to Rajouri.

Quoting eye-witnesses, sources disclosed that both militants told Bashir Khan and Shadi Khan that their sons had gone to attend recruitment rally of the Army and nowhere else.  "We need their services, not the Army", the militants remarked and gunned down both the elderly persons. They left the residence after the killing.

According to sources, one of the militant was wearing a facemask, which indicated that he was a local. He had worn the mask to conceal his identity. The second militant appeared to be a foreign militant.  Though security forces, police personnel and Special Police Officer (SPOs) have always been on militant hit lists, this was the first instance in the district; militant’s targeted two elderly persons because their sons sought military recruitment.  

MASS PROTESTS AGAINST CIVILIAN’S KILLING

RAJOURI, August 12: Mass demonstrations were held today and shops remained closed at Harni and Mendhar in Poonch district, observing a complete bandh (shutdown) in protest against the death of a civilian, Lateef, son of Munir resident of Gursai.  The victim was killed during cross fire between militants, security forces and police at Gursai Nullah.  Witnesses allege that a SOG official killed the civilian.

Official sources stated that the large number of protestors shouted slogans against the SOG and demanded the registration of a FIR against the Sub Inspector blamed for the killing of Lateef.

YOUTH HOLDS BSF AT BAY

SRINAGAR, August 12: Seconds before the Border Security Force (BSF) were allegedly about to kill him in a fake encounter, a handcuffed youth in BSF custody managed to save his own life by seizing the rifle of BSF personnel during the intervening night of 12 and 13th August in Pulwama. 

The troops of BSF 82 battalion, camped at Dakbanglow Pulwama, arrested a youth identified as Mudasir Ahmad Dar, son of Nisar Ahmad Dar of Karimabad, Pulwama on August 12.  Sources stated that at approximately 3 am, Mudasir was taken near Paho Pinglana on the Srinagar-Pulwama road. 

The youth was then dragged out by the BSF.  As troopers aimed their rifles, despite being handcuffed, the youth desperately snatched a rifle from an officer, taking shelter in the bullet-proof BSF vehicle.  The young man threatened BSF personnel that he would open fire if they approached. 

Reports stated that the said individual put on a bulletproof jacket and helmet in the BSF vehicle, managing to keep troops at bay Witnesses claim that while troops fired at the vehicle but the youth did not return fire. 

At 4 a.m. a police party led by SHO Pulwama arrived at the scene. In a bulletproof police vehicle, the SHO approached the BSF vehicle occupied by Mudasir. The SHO attempted to persuade Mudasir to relinquish his weapon. The youth refused to surrender but nevertheless engaged in talks with the SHO.  

Locals conjectured that it seemed that the young man was waiting for morning, hoping that residents of the nearby villages would rush to his aid and save his life. 

He succeeded in keeping the SHO engaged till 7 am.  In the morning, villagers converged upon the scene. Upon their arrival, at 8 am, Mudasir accepted the terms of surrender offered by the SHO.  Eyewitnesses stated that when Mudasir came out of the BSF vehicle he was wearing a bulletproof jacket, a helmet, and handcuffs hung from one hand.

The youth handed over the rifle to the SHO. The SHO took him into custody and booked him under FIR 304/06. The BSF has ordered a court of inquiry against Commander Bharati Shah, who was leading the BSF personnel. 
 
FATHER TROUBLED BY I-CARD, COERCION AND AILING CHILD

KUPWARA, August 10: Rafiq Ahmad, 29, is facing a dilemma.  According to him, the soldiers of 18 Rashtriya Rifles of Warnow, Lolab camp have seized his Identity Card and are demanding, as ransom, that he work as an informer for them.  He claims that the army is pressuring and psychologically torturing him to help them “trace out militants.”  So when doctors at Sogam Hospital advised Rafiq to take his ailing, two-year-old boy, Zakir, to the Srinagar Children’s Hospital, he felt desperate as never before. 

 Without an Identity Card (I-Card), official Voter Registration Cards, Kashmiri residents are suspect anywhere in the state, particularly in rural areas where troops refuse to recognize other forms of identification.

“Since my child was so ill that doctors referred him to Srinagar, I went to the camp and told the Major to return my I-Card.  He said ‘I will give your I-Card only if you bring a certificate from doctors in Srinagar stating the number of days you are going to stay there’. I went to Srinagar but returned after a day. My child was not treated because I had to stay for a long time.  I fear that the Major will either kill me or implicate me in some fictitious case.  Please save me,” Rafiq told media in the Kupwara market, his son Zakir crying in his lap. 

Rafiq said the Major of the 18 RR camp was pressuring him to trace militants in Warnow area. 

“For the past one and a half month, the Major tortures me mentally daily at the camp. He says I have to be present at the camp whenever he orders. Four days back some soldiers came to my home at 4 am and asked me to come along.  I was detained in a bunker for the whole day and in the evening they photographed me and ordered that I should be back in the morning,” Rafiq disclosed, distraught.

The alleged army coercion has affected his livelihood. A small shopkeeper in his native village Sewar Kawari in the Lolab area, Rafiq earns a meager 100 to 150 rupees a day to feed his two small daughters, wife, and a son.  He has been borrowing from his friends and neighbors. 

“I am not a militant and I have never helped the militants. Why are they [the military] making my family's life and my life hell?” he questioned. 

Brigadier Devinder Kapoor of 8 Sector RR claimed, “Rafiq is helping militants by providing them food.  We don’t have any personal grudge against him.” 

Admitting that the Major of RR camp at Warnow has withheld Rafiq’s I-Card, Brigadier Kapoor stated, “Let him come and take his I-Card. He can go to Srinagar to treat his son.  After returning he must meet the Major and assure him that he would not help militants in future.” 

Rafiq had informed top police officers about “continuous harassment” by soldiers. Additional Superintendent of Police Kupwara, Bashir Makhdoomi, wrote a letter to the commanding officer of the Warnow police requesting that he provide details about Rafiq’s “character and antecedents.” 

“The letter bearer was arrested by NCA (Non-Civilian Agency, security parlance for armed forces in civilian clothes who remain anonymous when they arrest someone, often in civilian vehicles bearing no registration numbers) some days before and has been harassed.  

Rafiq only hopes that his ordeal will end soon. 
ASSAULT OF IMAM AND LABOURER’S ARREST SPARKS PROTESTS

SAKIPORA (BARAMULLA), August 2: Hundreds of residents of Sakipora demonstrated against army troopers accusing them of assaulting an imam of the local mosque and many others. The villagers asserted that if the army camp is not shifted from the area they will continue the protests. The protesters did not allow any vehicle to ply on the Srinagar-Baramulla road. 

Villagers speak 

According to witnesses, a patrol party from army’s 22 Rashtriya Rifles, Zaloora Camp, led by a commander locally known as Major Ambana, cordoned off Jamia Masjid on Wednesday afternoon and asked the people praying in the mosque to exit.  Without any further explanation, they claimed, the troops abused the imam Abdul Ahad and ordered him to accompany them to the Zaloora camp. 

“I told the Major that I have to lead the Digar Nimaz (afternoon prayers) and only 10 minutes were left for the prayers.  He took away my identity card and asked me to come to the camp. I told him I would come after prayers but he abused me and beat me up,” Abdul Ahad recounted.

Muzaffar Bhat, a sophomore at Degree College, Handwara, was severely beaten by the Major, the witnesses reported. They also claim that the Major did not spare eight members of the apolitical wandering religious group, Tablighi Jamaat. Residents allege that religious persons were targeted by the troops.

The beating of the imam and others triggered protest demonstrations on Wednesday evening.  However, police pacified the protesters and assured proper action would be taken against the accused Major. 

On Thursday morning, however, the residents said that the Major revisited the village and picked up 32-year-old labourer Tariq Dar, son of Muhammad Rajab Dar, and college student Muzaffar Bhat.  The student was released after severe thrashing.  The labourer was taken along to the army camp. 

“While leaving the village, the Major told me ‘come to the camp and I will send your dead body to your family.  I couldn’t sleep last night and I have eaten nothing; I will satiate myself by killing you’,” Muzaffar Bhat recounted. 

The resident related that troops dragged out a 14-year-old schoolboy naked from the bathroom of the mosque and beat him. 

After the Major’s second visit, the Sakipora villagers, joined by residents of neighboring hamlets, came to the streets and demonstrated against troops and the state government.  They were shouting anti-India, anti-army, pro-freedom slogans.  Some were carrying placards demanding, “Release Tariq”.  

Other complaints 

“They often take men for forced labor and do not pay them anything.  They demand photographs from the men, harass and beat us whenever they wish to,” complained Abdul Majid. 

At 3 pm, the labourer was released following intervention by Senior Superintendent of Police, Baramulla. 

Official statement 

The Commanding Officer of 5 Sector RR, Colonel Gosain, contended, “The upper reaches of Zaloora are highly infested with Lashkar-e-Toiba militants and the villagers (of Sakipora) are supporting them.  Tariq Ahmad provided logistical support to the militants”.

DESPITE COURT ORDER BILAL STILL IN CUSTODY

SRINAGAR, August 3: Bilal Sidiquee of Kursoo, Rajbagh was first arrested in 1988 for his alleged involvement in the ongoing militancy. He, along with some other youth, was taken into custody in connection with FIR No. 283/88. After spending some months in Jodhpur’s “notorious” prison, Bilal was shifted to Srinagar jail and finally released in 1992. 

He was not free for long.  Bilal was arrested by Delhi police in 1995 from Jehangirpuri.  Accused of being the “Supreme Commander” of a Muslim Mujahideen outfit and a conduit for Jaish-e- Muhammad and ISI, Bilal was sentenced to 17 years imprisonment.  The court also imposed a fine of Rupees 30,000.   According to people close to him, Bilal was a brilliant student but could not get time to pursue his studies.  Yet he successfully pursued a Molvi Fazil degree while in prison. He also took several courses through IGNOU. 

His imprisonment ended in August 2005.  Bilal was facing charges under the Terrorist and Disruptive Activities Prevention Act (TADA) in FIR No. 8/91 (PS Maharaj Gunj). The designated court allowed Bilal’s bail application, but his release was not permitted for unknown reasons.  Bilal was taken to some undisclosed destination, detained yet again under PSA for “recycling militancy-related activities.” 

 
The authorities invoked the provisions of the PSA to detain Bilal, but failed to fulfill the requirements laid down by the legislation.   According to Bilal’s counsel, a copy of the FIR, seizure memo, the grounds of detention and a detention order were not furnished to the detainee. 

The detention order (DMS/PSA/81/2002 dated February 7, 2006) was challenged in the High Court but the authorities failed to file a counter.  The court determined, “It appears that the document containing the grounds of detention is a copy of the dossier. The detaining authority has not spelled out the compelling reasons for detaining the detenue in preventive custody.” 

The detaining authority relied heavily upon the dossier while framing the charges. “The words used in the dossier are the same contained in the detention order.  The allegations have been reproduced paragraph by paragraph in the grounds of detention,” the court concluded. 

While holding the authorities liable for non-application of the rationale for the arrest, the court questioned how and when Bilal met individuals and impetus to ongoing militancy while in custody. 

The court ordered Bilal’s release.  He has not, however, been relinquished. “He continues to suffer in some unknown torture chamber.  I want to see my son before I die”, despairs his aged mother.  

ARMED FORCES URGES POLICE TO BOOK PROTESTERS


WATLAB, August 4: A senior police officer of Sopore disclosed that the military has made a list of about 70 people who protested against its troops after the drowning of nearly two dozen school children in Wullar Lake in May, allegedly due to careless handling by Navy officers stationed in the area. The document will be given to police with strong recommendations to take action against the listed persons. 

Most of the people of this picturesque area took part in the protests against army.  The violent demonstrators ransacked the local military camp, damaging some government property, including a sewing center constructed by the army in Bangargund, Kupwara. Witnesses state that soldiers filmed the assembly with video cameras. 

“We knew what they were up to. We knew they would avenge our protests, but you know how the sight of those bodies of small school children enraged everybody then,” recounted Abdus Samad Wani of Watlab. 

The army requested police to book protestors under the draconian Public Safety Act (PSA).  The PSA permits up to two years of imprisonment without trial, and can be renewed indefinitely.  The residents were also protesting the killing of three children shot in an ambush by troopers last year. 

“The youth have not stayed in their homes for the past one week,” disclosed a villager wishing anonymity.  

Colonel Gosain of Sector 5Rashtriya Rifles admitted “Yes, we have handed over some of the arrested men. We have video footage of these people who have damaged our property.  The colonel claimed, “We won’t touch the innocents. We have done a lot for these villages under Operation Sadbhavna (goodwill)”. 

Residents of Watlab related that on Thursday, troops of 15 RR arrived in the village and gave the village head a list of 30 residents from Watlab, Magam, Aloosa and other districts. “They told him ‘These are the names.  Call them.  We have to ask them questions.  They have protested against the army, damaged our installations and government property’,” a villager recalled. 

The villagers said that some residents resisted the army’s attempt to arrest the protesters, but most of them fled. “Troops caught hold of Parvez Ahmad, Muhammad Shafi, and Muhammad Saleem, aged 22-25,” the village head informed. Troops are checking every passenger vehicle for the ‘listed’ youth. 

Residents also complained of coercion by troops pressuring them to testify in favor of the Navy in the case currently being heard by a Sopore court. “Witnesses have been asked not to testify against the Navy officers.  Now that the inquiry into the drowning incident is at a crucial stage, they have started a crack down on our youth,” the village head of Magam contended. 

OLD MAN SHOT AT IN PAHALGAM

‘SOLDIERS SHOT HIM DURING PRAYER’; ARMY CLAIMS HE ATTEMPTED TO FLEE
SRINAGAR, August 17: But for the compassionate assistance of local police, an aged civilian from Pahalgam would have succumbed to the bullets which a Rashtriya Rifles trooper pumped into his abdomen in the pre-dawn hours, Thursday morning. 
 
“I was offering prayers in the compound of my house when some troops arrived. Without any warning they fired upon me.  I fell unconscious and don’t know how I reached here,” the 55-year-old Gujjar, Noor Alam Khan recounted as he lay writhing in pain in the observation ward of SMHS hospital following a crucial surgery.   

The father of eight, six daughters and two sons, Khan is anxious about his family back home. “My daughters are alone.  Troops will kill them too. Please bring them here,” he pleaded as his wife Hasina Bano sobbed in the corner. 

Visibly traumatized, Hasina recalled the scene:  “It was around 5 in the morning. The mosque is far away and my husband is used to praying at home. He was offering Fajar (morning prayers). Suddenly I heard a gun shot. When I went out, I saw troops surrounding him. He was in pool of blood. I shouted at the troops to kill me too.” 

Noor Alam’s brother, Maqbool Khan, is another eyewitness to the shooting.  Says he, “When I reached the scene, the troops ran away. After firing upon my brother, they watched while he cried for help,” Khan angrily related. 

However, the acting PRO Defence B B Singh claims that during a routine search operation in the upper reaches of Lidder this morning troops noticed some ‘suspicious movements’ in the area.  “The man was challenged but he tried to flee.  Suspecting him as militant the jawans opened fire. When the troops came to know that he was a civilian, they gave him on the spot first aid and shifted him to the nearest hospital in Pahalgam and then moved him to SMHS in Srinagar,” the PRO added. 

 
While Khan’s family members are all enraged with the troops they feel overwhelmed by the sympathetic attitude of local police. “He would have died. It was only because of the immediate assistance of local Police that soon after we brought him downhill we could shift him to Srinagar. On the instructions of a Senior Police officer two constables escorted us and also gave us rupees 3000.  Thank God he is alive”, Hasina exclaimed, adding that Noor Alam was a laborer and the lone breadwinner of his family. 

AGED FATHER BLAMES GOVERNMENT GUNMAN FOR SON’S DISAPPEARANCE

SRINAGAR, August 28: A married man disappeared in Kupwara on August 17, 2005. Three months later, his wife married a government gunman. The father of the disappeared man recounts that upon filing a case with police he received death threats from the gunman. The father accuses the government gunman of having an affair with his former daughter-in-law and being responsible for his son’s disappearance. Police are investigating

 
Kupwara police have begun investigating the disappearance of Sajjad Ahmad Mir, 24, son of Abdul Jabbar Mir (65) of Tikkipora village, Lolab, district Kupwara. 

Jabeena, sister of the disappeared, narrated that her brother went out with his wife Zahida to Sogam to visit the house of his in-laws on August 17 last year.  Jabeena related that Zahida’s mother was ill.  “I remember they left in the afternoon. When Sajjad didn’t return, the family thought he might have stayed there and would return when Zahida’s mother recovered. Sajjad did not return, however”, Jabeena said..

“On August 25, we were shell-shocked as we came to know that Sajjad was missing and Zahida never returned home”, recounted Abdul Jabbar.  

Abdul Jabbar said the affair between Zahida and the government gunman Mushtaq Ahmad Mir of Bomhama, Drugmulla motivated the disappearance of his son. 

Mushtaq married Zahida only three months after Sajjad’s disappearance, he alleged. Police are investigating the complaint of the disappeared man’s family.  Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Kupwara, Vijay Kumar, stated,  I have issued an order to Station House Officer Sogam to arrest the duo (Mushtaq and Zahida) and interrogate them. Kumar revealed that he has asked the Criminal Investigation Department and other agencies to assist the investigations. 

The victim’s father is disappointed with the police role thus far, however.  “I met former SSP of Kupwara Sunil Dutt continuously for three months after Sajjad’s disappearance last year and he assured me they would assist me in any way possible, but nothing came of it”, Abdul Jabbar complained.

Abdul Jabbar disclosed that he then met Inspector General of Kashmir Police, who wrote to the present SSP to investigate the complaint.   He alleged that he was receiving threats from the accused government gunman.  “I am told by him to migrate from my village.  He says ‘You know Sajjad is dead. Don’t go to police otherwise you will meet the same fate as your son”.

Before the disappearance of Sajjad, Jabbar’s elder son, a Border Security Force trooper, was killed in a gunfight with militants in Bandipora. 

 
Abdul Jabbar said, “I sold two kanals of land for money that I spent searching for Sajjad.  I hope Sajjad will return.  He has to marry off his three sisters”.

KASHMIRIS SEXUALLY ABUSED IN PUNJAB POLICE CUSTODY

August 30: Punjab police, including a DSP of Pathankote, have allegedly sexually abused two Kashmiri boys at a police station in Punjab. 


The boys, Jehangir Manzoor, 15, and Tahir Hussain, 20, were sexually abused by two policemen on the night of August 26 receiving a 3-day remand, alleged Jehangir’s uncle Manzoor.  Since nobody is permitted to meet the two, the family came to know of the incident only during a court hearing.


According to Manzoor, “The boys were arrested on false grounds.  They have not been involved in any activity which is against the law of the land”.  


YOUTH TORTURED BY RASHTRIYA RIFLES PERSONNEL  
DODA, August 13: A young man was subjected to intense torture allegedly by Rashtriya Rifles (RR) troops, triggering strong resentment among Doda locals. 

According to victim’s father Muhammad Anwar Wani, a village head, 10 RR personnel arrested his son Farooq Ahmad Wani and conveyed him to the RR camp, where he was subjected to severe torture. 

He alleged that Farooq was given electric shocks, which damaged his private parts. Residents related that Farooq has been admitted to the Doda district hospital where his conditions is said to be critical.

The family members are demanding action against RR officers. 

POLICE OFFICER BOOKED FOR ATTEMPTING TO RAPE WOMAN
JAMMU, August 1: A constable with the Armed Police was booked for allegedly attempting to rape a woman in a migrant camp at Talwara in Reasi tehsil. 

Police spokesman said that jawan of Armed Police, Mushtaq Ahmed, who is attached with the Police Training Centre, Talwara, barged into the house of a migrant woman at Talwara on the night of July 31 and allegedly attempted to rape her.

 
The woman immediately raised an alarm, after which some neighbors rushed to her house. However, the cop escaped.  

 
As the rape attempt created tension in the Talwara migrant camp, local police arrested the armed police officer, who was planning to leave the Talwara area.  A case under Section 353, 323 and 451 RPC has been registered against him.

VILLAGERS PROTEST TEENAGE GIRL’S MOLESTATION BY ARMY

JAMMU, August 6: A teenage girl was allegedly molested by an army jawan at village Datyal under the jurisdiction of Khour Police Station.

 
Police spokesman said that the girl was passing through the lanes of Datyal when an army jawan and resident of adjoining Dhopar village Davinder Singh intercepted and molested her.  As the girl immediately raised alarm, the accused fled from the spot.  Parents of the girl, along with villagers, visited Khour Police Station and lodged a complaint against the accused.
People held demonstrations and demanded stern action against the army jawan, who is a resident of Khour block. They demanded that police leave no stone unturned to immediately incarcerate the accused.

GIRL’S FAMILY MOVES COURT AGAINST GOVERNMENT GUNMAN

August 21:  Incensed by the harassment of his 16-year old daughter by a government gunman here, her father has appealed to the Court for justice. 

Reports state that government gunman, Tariq Ahmad Mir (alias Tata), son of Gul Zaman, was continuously harassing Rukshana Akhtar, daughter of Muhammad Qasim, for past few months. 

The government gunmen, police allege, assaulted Muhammad Qasim at the Bandipora market on July 21.  Due to the intervention of shopkeepers, however, he was rescued. “Tariq, accompanied by the troops of 2 Grenadiers, raided the house of Rukshana several times.  He is pressurizing Rukshana’s father to marry her to him,” local said. 

After receiving no help from police, the family has taken the case to the Court.  Eyewitnesses stated that while recounting her ordeal to the Court, Rukshana broke down. 
WOMAN INJURED IN IED BLAST

August 22: A woman was injured in an improvised explosive device (IED) blast in Bandipore town of Baramulla district, police reported. 

According to a police bulletin, the blast occurred at Nasu village, wounding Haleema Begum, wife of Gula Dar of Nasu. She has been hospitalized. 

PROTESTS IN PULWAMA AGAINST ALLEGED RAPE ATTEMPT

SRINAGAR, August 16: People took to the streets and held mass protests against the molestation and attempted rape of a woman by a security officer in Arihal- Pulwama.  

Reports state that personnel of the 55 Rashtriya Rifles in Ahgam were traveling through Arihal yesterday. They entered he house of Bashir Ahmad Chat, located on the outskirts. The owner of the residence was not home at that time.  However, his wife and small children were present. A security man commanded the housewife to roast corn cobs.  As the woman entered the kitchen, the RR man followed.  He allegedly molested her, tore her clothes and attempted to rape her. 

The woman raised an alarm and her children cried out.  On hearing the cries, the villagers working in neighboring fields rushed towards the house.  They attempted to seize the security man, but he threatened to open fire. 

Locals held demonstrations, despite threats by security forces of dire consequences if they protested.  This morning villagers again took to streets.  They blocked the Pulwama-Shopian road, staging a dharna (sit-in).  Raising slogans, they demanded stern action against the guilty security officers. 

Army troops arrived at the scene and severely assaulted the protestors.  Police later fired several rounds in the air, lobbed smoke shells and resorted to lathi charge in order to disperse the assembly. Demonstrators retaliated by pelting stones.  Twenty civilians, including 10 women, were injured by the police action, while seven vehicles were damaged by the stone pelting of demonstrators. 

District authorities described the incident as very unfortunate and stated they have taken up the matter with army.

POLICE OFFICER ALLEGEDLY MOLESTS WOMAN

August 22: A policeman allegedly molested a non-local woman in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district. 


The victim, married to a Handwara native, was raped by a police officer identified as Ishtiaq Ahmad in a government hospital. 


The accused was arrested after the victim lodged a complaint against him. 

ARMY PERSONNEL SHOOT GIRLS
SRINAGAR, August 23: For a few moments people didn’t believe their eyes—a military officer punishing soldiers in public for the first time in the sixteen years of armed conflict that has engulfed the Valley.

At the posh Residency Road yesterday, a group of photojournalists were leaving a hotel after covering a press conference when they spotted several Army officers photographing three girls near the State Bank of India with their mobile phone cameras. 

According to eyewitnesses, the soldiers descended from their vehicle upon a group of girls.  The officers seized their mobile phones and began shooting their pictures.  Seeing the girls trembling, the photojournalists intervened and rebuked the soldiers.  Sensing trouble, one of the accused ran into the SBI branch with the phones.  Soon, passersby joined the journalists, demanding action against the soldiers. 

A police party led by SHO Kothi Bagh arrived at the spot, pacified the journalists and the livid witnesses with an assurance to detain the accused. For nearly 30 minutes, the SHO spoke with the Army officers while more people assembled at the scene. The visibly unnerved soldiers took positions inside their vehicles (008J4195P/260/261, 03C067662C and 04C 1614361C).  On the orders of their officer, they exited and were ordered to do squats as the punishment. 

UNIDENTIFIED GUNMEN ABDUCT, TORTURE AND MURDER WOMAN
August 25: Unidentified gunman killed an RDD employee after abducting her from her home in Dandi Baderwah, Jammu. 

According to reports, unidentified gunmen forcibly entered the house of Mukhtiar Ahmad, son of Ghulam Nabi Sheikh, at about 10 pm and abducted Shabnum Begum, wife of the late Mukhtiar Ahmad, at gunpoint. 

 
Shabnum Begum was taken some distance from her home in the maize fields.  Following sustained torture, the assailants killed her using sharp edged weapons. 

The deceased was a government employee serving as a Village Level Worker in the Block Development Office, Bhaderwah. 
GOVERNMENT GUNMAN KIDNAPS 19-YEAR GIRL

August 30: A government-backed gunman working with the police and military allegedly kidnapped a girl from Shatgund, 17 kilometers away from Handwara tehsil, district Kupwara. The gunman resided in the same village. 


According to reports, Shaheena Bano, 19, daughter of Abdul Khaliq Malla, was kidnapped by a gunman identified as Mohammad Akbar Malla on August 13.  Shaheena was kidnapped by Malla in public, prior to her marriage which was supposed to take place on September 2.  The family of Shaheena had arranged all the preparations for the wedding and were set to perform the ceremony.  

The troubled father of the victim, Abdul Khaliq, relayed, “Since she was kidnapped the whole village is haunted and disturbed. We have left no stone unturned to find her.  Her brother is wandering in Srinagar to trace her whereabouts, but as yet without any success”.  
VILLAGERS REFUSE TO BURY DEAD

August 16: Thousands of people today staged a protest against the security forces and refused to bury the bodies of two persons killed at Aishmuqam in Anantnag district during a cordon and search operation, which has been ongoing for the last four days.

 
According to reports, security personnel of the 3 RR cordoned off the Dragdan, Hapatnar village in Aishmuqam.  An encounter ensued between the security forces and militants.  Immediately after the encounter, the bodies of Altaf Ahmad Tantray and Mohammad Yousuf Tantray were recovered from a field. 

Villagers alleged that previous night security forces unleashed a reign of terror in the area, firing indiscriminately and murdering several civilians, including four women. The incident infuriated locals, who demanded that action be taken against the responsible personnel.  The protesters demanded that a case be filed against the security forces regarding the killing of two persons, contending that the circumstances of their death should come to the forefront.  Protestors only agreed to bury the bodies after assurances from high officials that the whole matter would be examined.  

TROOPS OCCUPY 4 LAKH KANALS IN LADAKH
SRINAGAR, August 2: Army and other paramilitary forces are occupying 411,672 kanals (51,459 acres) of land illegally in Leh and Kargil districts of Jammu and Kashmir’s Ladakh region, the government informed the Assembly. 

In reply to a question by P Namgyal, Member of Legislative Council (MLC), the government reported that in Leh armed forces are occupying 288,085 kanals of land belonging to the state government and 471 kanals of private land.  In Kargil, troops are illegally occupying 122,819 kanals of state land and 1,297 kanals private land. 

In addition to 32,765 kanals of state land and 430 kanals private land illegally occupied, the government has disclosed that the armed forces have acquired 3,624 kanals of state land and 2,249 kanals of private land legally in the Leh district.  In Kargil, the army has sought 2.3 kanals of state land and 1,635 kanals of private land legally, acquiring 420 kanals of private land.  The armed forces have paid an initial sum of 860,162 rupees for the land in Leh and 176,969 rupees as annual rent. 

  The government stated that in Kargil the outstanding bill (on account of rental arrears due to rate revisions in 1993) is 1,334,158 rupees and the current outstanding rent for 690 kanals , 4 marlas, is 3,217,629 rupees.
 

CENTRAL GOVT DOUBLES SALARIES OF J&K SPOS

ANNOUNCES ADDITIONAL ANNUAL GRANT OF RUPEES 84 CRORES
August 19: The Government of India conveyed its approval for doubling the salary of SPO's who are at presently working along with J&K Police in the state.

SPO's have been working in the state for last 11 years. Till date, since 1996, SPO's were paid rupees 1500 per month. In a meeting held with the Home Secretary, Government of India Duggal and his team during their recent visit to state, the Chief Minister recommended that the monthly salaries of SPOs be doubled. He took up the matter with the Home Minister, Shivraj Patil during his visit to New Delhi and the central government accorded approval for raising their salaries to Rs 3000 per month.

The present strength of SPO's in the state numbers 23,200.  The salary hike will cost the exchequer an additional 42 crore rupees per year.  Now the central government will be spending 84 crore rupees per year for the salaries of SPO's in the state, a big jump for any establishment.

Chief Minister cited that during 425 SPOs have been killed. 

MAN ARRESTED IN JULY 11 BLASTS CASE BOOKED FOR CAR THEFT

NEW DELHI, August 27: A man from Poonch district of Jammu and Kashmir, arrested in connection with the July 11 serial blasts in Mumbai, has been booked only for car theft, official sources stated. 

 
The Anti-Terrorist Squad (ATS) of Mumbai Police announced on August 4 that a person identified as Abdul Hamid could be a Lashkar-e-Toiba militant operating a module of the terrorist organization in the metropolis. 

A special team was rushed to Poonch, where Hamid had been detained by the Jammu and Kashmir Police at the request of their Mumbai counterparts, sources said. 

Hamid was brought to Mumbai on transit remand and after several rounds of questioning, police booked him under section 392 (robbery) to keep him in Arthur Road jail. 

Hamid told interrogators he was working as a security guard with a private firm and had returned to his hometown due to some domestic problems, while his brother continued to work in Mumbai. 

The questioning of some of his relatives and neighbors indicated that Hamid had indeed been at his residence in the latter half of June but it was not sufficient to convince Mumbai police.  

Mumbai police claimed Hamid had links with the Lashkar-e-Toiba and had allegedly been entrusted with the task of establishing its terror network in the city. 

6 BOOKED UNDER PSA FOR MILITANT’S FUNERAL

SRINAGAR, August 11: Police have arrested 12 persons for participating in the funeral of a militant in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district and booked six of them under the Public Safety Act (PSA). 

 






UNIDENTIFIED GUNMEN KILLS 3 OF A FAMILY

August 11: Unidentified gunmen gunned down three members of a family, including two children, in a remote village of Jammu’s district Udhampur on Thursday night. 

A senior police officer told that a group of unidentified gunmen barged into the house of Ram Singh at village Hara in Gool area of Udhampur. “While two gunmen stayed outside the house, one of them forced his entry and opened indiscriminate fire on the inmates,” a police officer said. He said Ram Singh’s wife Sabitra Devi and two children Meena, 14, and Neela, 9, were killed on the spot. 

SPO FIRES AT 2 YOUTH

SRINAGAR, August 14: Two persons were wounded when a Special Police Officer (SPO) fired upon them in south Kashmir’s Islamabad (Anantnag) district. 

Reports said the SPO identified as Muhammad Adil (Belt no 384/SPO) was engaged in an argument with Tariq Ahmad Bazaz, son of Bashir Ahmad Bazaz of Batamaloo, and Irshad Ahmad Malik, son of Dilawar Malik of Hazuribagh, at the Pahalgam bus stand. According to eyewitnesses, the SPO fired upon them from point blank range. They were rushed to the district hospital wherefrom they were referred to Srinagar.
YOUTH ATTEMPTS SUICIDE TO ESCAPE TROOPS WRATH

August 21: To evade the wrath of troops, 18-year-old Bilal Ahmad Mala of Batengo, Sopore (north Kashmir) took the extreme step of attempting suicide.   

Reports state that the youth was distraught over incessant harassment by troops.  The harassment began following Bilal’s participation in a protest against the Navy last May.  The protest was in response to the capsizing of a boat in Wullar Lake, killing twenty children, due to the Navy’s negligence.

Immediately after the tragedy, residents related that an overwrought Bilal snapped and consumed poison to end the harassment.  The trouble was evidently anticipated.  Bilal was rushed to the Sopore district hospital and then transferred to Srinagar.   

A military spokesman claimed that the youth is affiliated with the militancy and that he was threatened by a militant, which led him to attempt suicide. 

BSF JAWAN GOES AMOK; TRIES TO KILL COMMANDER, OTHERS

August 18: A Border Security Force (BSF) jawan made an unsuccessful attempt on the life of his battalion’s Commander and other jawans, firing at them with a Light Machine Gun (LMG) before deserting his post in Balakote, Poonch last night. The jawan was later overpowered by the police personnel.  He was injured in the process.

Official sources stated that Pawan Kumar, a BSF jawan of 183 battalion, picked up his official LMG from his post and deserted his picket in the Balakote sector of Mendhar tehsil last night. While fleeing, he opened fire on some jawans of his battalion but they managed a narrow escape.

At the village Ucchad near Balakote, the jawan noticed the vehicle of the battalion’s Commander, opening fire. The commander escaped unscathed.
The erring BSF jawan was chased by police and security personnel.  He was finally captured from a village late in the night.  While troops attempted to apprehend him, the jawan was hit by a bullet on his arm and injured.

He was shifted to hospital for treatment where he has been kept under custody. 

RR MAN SHOOTS COLLEAGUE

August 29: A trooper of Rashtriya Rifles (RR) shot and injured his colleague after a heated argument in the Baramulla district of north Kashmir.  The injured, Ram Prasad of 46 RR, has been admitted to a hospital. 

RR JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE

JAMMU, August 16: A Rashtriya Rifles jawan committed suicide by shooting himself inside a security bunker in the border district of Rajouri early this morning. 

Official sources stated that the jawan, identified as Koshal Patel, committed suicide with his service weapon while on guard duty at Dera-ki-Gali bunker in Thanamandi belt of Rajouri. The jawan died on the spot.   

CRPF MAN ATTEMPTS SUICIDE

August 19: A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) personnel attempted suicide after some rift with his company commander at Pampore, Pulwama district.


According to the SKIMS doctors attending him, his condition was stated to be critical as the bullet pierced his neck and went through his skull. The trooper was identified as Vijendar Sharma of 54 Battalion.

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS 

DROP IN HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS CLAIMS AZAD

SRINAGAR, August 2: Chief Minister (CM) Ghulam Nabi Azad said that the human rights violations have gone down in the state ever since the coalition government took over the reigns. 

Azad said that 26 custodial killings took place in the state from 2003 to July 28, 2006 while as the custodial disappearances during the same time were 12. He added that eight custodial killings were recorded in 2003, nine in 2004, seven in 2005 and two far this year. At the same the CM said that during these years the figures on account of custodial disappearances stood at seven, three and one each for 2005 and 2006. 

Azad said that 60 custodial disappearances were reported during the National Conference rule and the custodial killings were recorded at 67 

GOVERNMENT’S HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS FIGURES CLASH WITH SHRC
August 3: Government on Thursday issued figures on the number of custodial killings and disappearances which clash with State Human Rights Commission’s (SHRC’s) annual report. 

According to the government figures tabled in Assembly, three cases of custodial disappearances have been reported in 2004 and one in 2005. 

But the SHRC’s annual report, tabled in the House in Jammu on March 26 this year, stated that the commission registered 44 cases of disappearances from April 2004 to March 2005 across the state. 

43 were alone from Kashmir division—14 from Baramulla, 11 - Srinagar, 8 - Kupwara, 6 - Budgam, two each from the southern districts of Islamabad and Pulwama. 

Regarding custodial killings, the government informed the House that 16 custodial deaths took place in 2004 and 2005. 

The SHRC however had put the number at 17, with the northern Kupwara district witnessing five deaths, four in Baramulla, two each in Srinagar and Islamabad and one each in Budgam and Pulwama.  Two extra judicial executions had taken place in Jammu’s Poonch district, stated the commission’s annual report. 

In 2006 (till July 25), the government claims that only two persons died in custody, while a single case of custodial disappearance has been registered. 
986 PARAMILITARY MEN HIV POSITIVE
August 8: As many as 986 cases of HIV/AIDS have been detected in the Central Paramilitary Forces which include the Central Reserve Police Forces (CRPF), Border Security Forces (BSF) Indian Tibetans Border Police (ITBP) and others. Home Minster Shivraj Patil disclosed that 304 cases of HIV have been found in the CRPF and 82 cases in other paramilitary forces.
MORE SECURITY MEN KILLED BY NAXALS THAN VALLEY MILITANTS
August 29: The number of security officers killed by Naxalites this year is higher than the number of personnel killed by militants in the valley, deeply concerning security officials.  From January to July this year, at least 102 security men were killed in Naxal attacks, while the figure for those killed in the Valley during the same period stood at 85.  In 2005, 165 security men died in valley attacks, while less than 100 personnel were killed in Naxal attacks.

DEMONSTRATION AGAINST SOLDIERS, 2 MEN BADLY BEATEN, WOUNDED

SRINAGAR, August 9: People of Zaran, Tangmarg today demonstrated against the army and state government following the beating of three civilians by soldiers of 193 Unit. 

Witnesses allege that troopers of 193 Units raided the house of Fatah Muhammad Teli, son of Ghulam Muhammad Teli, an employee in the Sericulture department. The soldiers gave him a severe thrashing, local residents testified. The protesters claimed that Fatah was dragged to the local army camp. 

Locals staged a demonstration against the arrest and beating of Teli outside the camp.  However, the troops went berserk and assaulted the assembly, severely wounding Ghulam Mohiuddin Teli, son of Muhammad Sultan and Ghulam Mohiuddin Teli, son of Ghulam Muhammad. The two severely wounded men were shifted to Srinagar hospital for treatment. 

ABDUCTED MAN FOUND DEAD
JAMMU, August 5: Security Forces today recovered the body of a man abducted by suspected ultras from Malikot area of Surankot a couple of months ago.

The deceased has been identified as Mohammad Ashraf Kureshi, 45, son of Mohammad Hussain of Solian. Security forces today recovered the bullet-ridden body from Sillian area, 10 kilometers north east of Surankot this morning at 1100 hours.

Defence spokesman here claimed that the deceased was an Over Ground Worker of Lashkar-e-Toiba (LeT) and he was killed probably by a rival militant group.

GREATER KASHMIR LENSMAN ASSAULTED

JAMMU, August 9: Officers of Jammu police today manhandled the Greater Kashmir lenseman Mir Imran while he was returning from Suchetegarh border to cover a function organized by BSF on the eve of Raksha Bandhasn. 

 
Imran, along with EPA lensman JP Badral, was returning from the Suchetegarh border when officers of local police posted at Roie Morh (Lower Gari Garh) Nakka near Satwai stopped and began abusing him. 

Imran was assaulted and abused. 

KEEP VIGIL, BSF THREATENS SHOPKEEPERS

August 9: A paramilitary Border Security Forces (BSF) officer from 1 battalion has reportedly threatened shopkeepers in Bandipora of dire consequences if any grenade is lobbed in the market. The officer has asked the shopkeepers to keep eye on every lane and by lane.   

SPO AND HIS BROTHERS THRASH SHOPKEEPER

SRINAGAR, August 16: An SPO and his two brothers allegedly thrashed a shopkeeper in Handwara on the intervening night of August 13 and 14.  

 
According to reports, SPO Muhammad Shafi Lone, son of Ghulam Hassan, and his two brothers Javed Ahmad Lone and Showkat Ahmad Lone were accompanied by another SPO Muhammad Ishaq Lone, son of Muhammad Maqbool of Mawar Bala.  The party entered the residence of Riyaz Ahmad Wani, son of Ghulam Hassan in Sabzipora and demanded money from him.  The family members resisted, resulting in a scuffle during which the shopkeeper was severely thrashed. 

 
The injured was shifted to Srinagar in critical condition. 
HEADLESS BODY RECOVERED

August 17: Police recovered a headless body in Tangamarg, Baramulla district.
Sources report that fear gripped the Kunzer village when people spotted the beheaded body. After investigation, police identified the body as 22- year old Riyaz Ahmad Mir, son of Muhammad Akbar, who was abducted by unidentified gunmen at Gulan Vechi on August 15. 

CHRONOLOGY AUGUST 2006

August 1: Four Central Reserve Police Forces (CRPF) personnel, one SOG officer and three militants were killed in separate incidents of violence while an alleged custodial killing of a youth took place in Sadunara, Sumbal.

August 2: Five militants including one HM deputy commander, two HUJI militants and a soldier were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

August 3: One army jawan, one civilian and one militant were killed in separate incidents.

August 4: Four militants including three LeT militants and two army personnel were killed in separate incidents. 

August 5: Three militants and a civilian were killed in separate incidents. 

August 6: Two militants including one HM militant were killed in violence related incidents while a woman died in a grenade explosion at Sopore,Baramulla district of north Kashmir.

August 7: Five militants including one HUJI militant and three army men were killed in separate incidents. 

August 8: Four militants including three of JeM were killed in separate incidents.  

August 9: One HuM militants and trooper were killed in related incidents while a student was shot dead by the CRPF troopers in the Dalgate area of Srinagar. CRPF allege that the deceased was a militant killed upon attempting to hurl a grenade.  Eyewitnesses reject the claim and accuse troops of murder without any provocation. 

August 10: Two JeM militants, a LeT militant, a police officer, a trooper, an informer and two civilians were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state.

August 11: Two HUM militants, two JeM militants, four civilians (three of a family, including two children) were killed in separate incidents. 

August 12: Four militants, one soldier and four civilians were killed in separate incidents. 

August 13: Two army officers (including a JCO) and five militants (including two HM commanders and two LeT militants) were killed in separate incidents.

August 14: One militant and a soldier were killed in violence related incidents.  

August 15: Two civilians were killed in violence related incidents in the Valley. 

August 16: Two LeT, two HM militants, a militant of Al Barq, and three army officers were killed in various incidents of violence across the state. 

August 17: Two CRPF personnel, two policemen and three LeT militants were killed in separate incidents.  A headless body was recovered from Tangmarg, Baramulla.  

August 18: Four militants, one CRPF personnel and a civilian were killed in different incidents. 

August 19: One LeT militant was killed.  

August 20: Three militants (including two of LeT) were killed in separate incidents.

August 21: One militant of LeT and a civilian were killed in separate incidents.

August 22: One SPO was killed.

August 23: One army personnel was killed. 

August 24: Two HM militants were killed.

August 25: Four LeT, One HUJI militant, one unidentified militant and a woman were killed in separate incidents. 

August  26: Four militants including one HUM and one LeT militant and one SPO were killed in separate incidents of violence across J&K. 

August 27: One HM militant was killed.

August 28: Two LeT militants were killed.

August 29: Police recovered the throat-slit body of 17-year-old Meraj-ud-Din Bhat near his house at Raiyar Aribal in Beerwah, Budgam (central Kashmir). 

August 30: One SPO was killed in the valley. 

August 31: Two LeT militants, one HM militant, a police officer and two women were killed in various incidents of violence across the state. In another incident, police claimed that troops have gunned down a militant who locals alleged was murdered in a fake (staged) encounter. 

KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF AUGUST 2006
	DATE
	SOLDIERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	Aug 01
	5
	3
	1
	-

	Aug 02
	1
	5
	-
	-

	Aug 03
	1
	1
	1
	-

	Aug 04
	2
	4
	-
	-

	Aug 05
	-
	3
	1
	1 Sarpanch(Village Head)

	Aug 06
	-
	2
	1
	-

	Aug 07
	3
	5
	-
	-

	Aug 08
	-
	4
	-
	-

	Aug 09
	1
	1
	1
	-

	Aug 10
	1
	3
	2
	1 army informer 

	Aug 11
	-
	4
	4
	-

	Aug 12
	1
	4
	4
	-

	Aug 13
	2
	5
	-
	-

	Aug 14
	1
	1
	-
	-

	Aug 15
	-
	-
	2
	-

	Aug 16
	3
	5
	-
	-

	Aug 17
	4
	3
	-
	1 dead body recovered

	Aug 18
	1
	4
	1
	-

	Aug 19
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Aug 20
	-
	3
	-
	-

	Aug 21
	-
	1
	1
	-

	Aug 22
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Aug 23
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Aug 24
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Aug 25
	-
	6
	1
	-

	Aug 26
	1
	4
	-
	-

	Aug 27
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Aug 28
	-
	2
	-
	-

	Aug 29
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Aug 30
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Aug 31
	1
	3
	2
	1 controversial killing 

	TOTAL
	31
	80
	23
	4


	DATE
	CUSTODIAL AND EXTRA JUDICIAL KILLINGS
	WOMEN
	CHILDREN
	ALLEGED DISAPPEARANCES

	Aug 1
	1 CK
	-
	-
	-

	Aug 6
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Au 11
	-
	1
	2
	-

	Aug 12
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Aug 25
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Aug 29
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Aug 31
	1 EJK
	2
	-
	-

	Total 
	2
	5
	4
	0



NHRC TAKES NOTICE


Aug 31: The National Human Rights Commission (NHRC) has sought an explanation from the government within two weeks time of the killings of three civilians including teenager girl and her uncle by the army. 


	











Women and Children Killed





August 6: A woman identified as Sara, wife of Abdul Ahad of Watlab, was critically injured in a grenade explosion in Sopore, Baramulla district (north Kashmir). Sara later succumbed to her injuries while being hospitalized. 


August 11: Sunita Devi (40) and her two children Meena (14) and Neelam (6) were allegedly killed by militants at their village Harra, about 5 km away from Gool, Ramban Jammu. 


August 12: Soldiers of 33 Rashtriya Rifles allegedly killed a 14-year-old girl Rubeena, daughter of Sanaullah Tantray and her uncle while they were walking, along with 11 other villagers, towards a forest to fetch firewood in the early morning. Seven bullets punctured the frail body of the girl and nine riddled her uncle. 


August 25: Unidentified gunmen killed Shabnum Begum, wife of the late Mukhtiar Ahmad with a sharp edged weapon after forcibly taking her from her residence at Dandi village in Baderwah, Jammu.    


August 29: Police recovered a throat-slit body of one 17-year-old Meraj-ud-Din Bhat near his house at Raiyar Aribal in Beerwah area of Badgam (central Kashmir).


August 31: A woman identified as Haseena Akthar, daughter of Mohammad Sultan Wagay of Dangiwacha (north Kashmir), was shot dead by unknown gunmen. The motive of the murder is unknown.   No group claimed responsibility for the killing.  


August 31: A woman identified as Sakina Bano was killed by unknown gunmen at her residence in Dawoocha, Rafiabad, north Kashmir’s Baramulla district.  











� Shujaat Bukhari,  “Srinagar Turns A Fortress”, The Hindu, 14 August 2006.
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� “Justice in India Act (Introduced to House) HR 1519 IH”.  103rd Congress, 1st Session, 30 March 1993.  
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